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BRIAN M. BOYNTON 
Principal Deputy Assistant Attorney General 
Civil Division 
ARUN G. RAO 
Deputy Assistant Attorney General 
AMANDA N. LISKAMM 
Director, Consumer Protection Branch 
RACHAEL L. DOUD 
Assistant Director, Consumer Protection Branch
ROWAN L. REID 
Trial Attorney
Consumer Protection Branch 
Civil Division, U.S. Department of Justice
450 5th Street NW, Suite 6400-S
Washington, DC 20530
Telephone: (202) 532-4315
Facsimile: (202) 514-8742
Email Address: rowan.l.reid@usdoj.gov
Attorneys for Plaintiff United States of America 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

RESPONSE TREE LLC, a California 
corporation; and 

DEREK THOMAS DOHERTY, 
individually and as an officer of 
RESPONSE TREE LLC, 

Defendants. 

Case No. �����������&�9���� 

COMPLAINT FOR PERMANENT 
INJUNCTION, CIVIL PENALTIES, 
AND OTHER RELIEF 

Plaintiff, the United States of America, acting upon notification and 

authorization to the Attorney General by the Federal Trade Commission (“FTC”), 

-1-
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pursuant to Section 16(a)(1) of the Federal Trade Commission Act, 15 U.S.C. § 

56(a)(1), for its Complaint alleges: 

1. Plaintiff brings this action under Sections 5(a), 5(m)(1)(A), 13(b), 

16(a), and 19 of the Federal Trade Commission Act (“FTC Act”), 15 U.S.C. 

§§ 45(a), 45(m)(1)(A), 53(b), 56(a), and 57b, and Section 6 of the Telemarketing 

and Consumer Fraud and Abuse Prevention Act (“Telemarketing Act”), 15 U.S.C. 

§ 6105, to obtain a permanent injunction, civil penalties, and other relief for 

Defendants’ acts or practices in violation of Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. 

§ 45(a), and the FTC’s Telemarketing Sales Rule (the “TSR”), as amended, 16 

C.F.R. Part 310.  Defendants violated the FTC Act and TSR by operating a 

deceptive lead generation business that resulted in millions of unlawful 

telemarketing calls based on invalid consumer consent. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

2. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 

§§ 1331, 1337(a), 1345, and 1355. 

3. Venue is proper in this district under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(b)(1), 

1391(b)(2), 1391(c)(2), 1391(d), 1395(a), and 15 U.S.C. § 53(b). 

PLAINTIFF 

4. This action is brought by the United States of America upon referral 

from the FTC. The FTC is an independent agency of the United States 

Government created by the FTC Act.  15 U.S.C. §§ 41-58. The FTC enforces 

Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a), which prohibits unfair or deceptive 

acts or practices in or affecting commerce. The FTC also enforces the 

Telemarketing Act, 15 U.S.C. § 6102, and the TSR, 16 C.F.R. Part 310, which 

prohibit deceptive and abusive telemarketing acts or practices. 

DEFENDANTS 

5. Defendant Response Tree LLC (“Response Tree”) is a California 

corporation with its principal place of business as 3333 Michelson Drive, Suite 

-2-



https://ClickToWinAChance.com
https://AgedPeopleMeet.com
https://PatriotRefi.com
https://ClickToWinAChance.com
https://AgedPeopleMeet.com
https://PatriotRefi.com


 

 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

 

 

    

  

   

     

  

  

 

   

      

  

    

   

   

   

    

   

    

     

   

    

    

   

  

 

  

    

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

Case 8:24-cv-00001 Document 1 Filed 01/02/24 Page 4 of 24 Page ID #:4 

DEFENDANTS’ BUSINESS PRACTICES 

Overview 

8. Defendants have operated as lead generators that collect, aggregate, 

and sell consumer information—or “leads”—for profit.  More specifically, 

Defendants have operated as a “consent farm,” collecting and selling leads that are 

coupled with the consumer’s purported consent to receive certain outbound 

telephone calls, including outbound telephone calls that deliver a prerecorded 

message, otherwise known as robocalls, and calls made to telephone numbers on 

the do-not-
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14.  At the bottom of  the  Patriot Refi Website’s Homepage, there  was a  

prominent blue  button  that stated  “GET YO UR FAST FREE QUOTE.”  When a  

consumer clicked  on this button,  the webpage  was reoriented on  the browser so 

that the  portion of the homepage  with a black box and the  words “START HERE.   

Get a FREE quote in minutes.  Tell Us About Yourself.”  was at the  center  of the  

browser.    
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Get a quote to purchase a home, or take cash out of 
your existing home. 
Take Advantage of this lifetime oppo<tunity & find your rate today. 

ft No closing cost loans 

Rate/term refinance 

Hom e e-quity tine of credit 

Lower your monthly payments and save thousands. See how 

PatriotRefi stacks up to the national average, as well as a few 

top lenders. 

No credit check until you're ready to 

refinance w it h Patriot Refi . 

Your credit is important, so the lend£>r �~� 

paired you with won't ~r do a hard putl until 
you're absolutely ready. 

Get a Quote Now! 

Aeasons to consider a mortgage refinance: 
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15. As such, to obtain services, the consumer was prompted to type his 

name, address, phone number, email address, and date of birth into the form in the 

black box. The consumer submitted his information by clicking the prominently 

displayed large blue button in the black box that stated, “GET YOUR FAST FREE 

QUOTE.” If the consumer did not fill in all the fields on the form requesting his 

personal information and then tried to click the “GET YOUR FAST FREE 

QUOTE” button, a pop-up that said, “Please fill out this field” appeared over the 

field in which the consumer did not enter information. The consumer was unable 

to click 

https://PatriotRefi.com/thank-you.php
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to purchase a new home, or to take cash out of their existing home.  Indeed, many 

or all consumers never received any quote at all. 

17. Meanwhile, on the back end, Defendants operated 

https://PatriotRefi.com
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disclosure on the Patriot Refi Website Homepage that stated that the consumer 

may be contacted “regarding related products and services.”  This disclosure was 

more expansive in that it opened the door for the consumer’s contact information 

to be transferred to marketers of products and services unrelated to those offered 

by the Patriot Refi Website. Additionally, 

https://PatriotRefi.com
https://Patriotrefi.com


 

 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

 

 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

�~� PatriotRefi 

Our Partners 

------
_,.., 
-------___ _ 

-----------------------·-· ----- ... ----------·----- --

Image 3:  Patriot Refi Website’s “Our Partners” Page  

Case 8:24-cv-00001 Document 1 Filed 01/02/24 Page 13 of 24 Page ID #:13 

26.  The “California Privacy Notice”  webpage  contained  information 

related to the California Consumer Privacy Act.  The webpage stated  that the  

notice  was “for  California  residents  and supplements  the information contained 

elsewhere in the Privacy Policy.”  It also stated, “To provide the products or 

features  offered by our site, we must process information about you,  including  

Personal Information, and we  may sell, share, and use your  Personal Information  to  

respond to your  request and for business purposes.   For example, if you request 

information about an insurance  product or alternative  product,  your Personal 

Information  may be shared with third-parties who can follow-up  on your  request.”   

Contrary to this statement,  consumers who  submitted  their  personal information to 

the Patriot Refi Website received  robocalls and other  telemarketing calls regarding 

-13-
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social security disability benefits, among other topics, which are not at all related 

to consumers’ requests for mortgage-related financial products.  Furthermore, in 

numerous instances, consumers did not receive “the products or features offered 

by” the Patriot Refi Website. 

27. Additionally, the consent language stated, “I agree to the … Terms 

and Conditions.” I t is unclear to what “Terms and Conditions” this capitalized 

phrase was purporting to refer. 

28. Defendants’ use of these deceptive design techniques on the Patriot 

Refi Website tricked consumers into providing their personally identifiable 

information. This undermined consumers’ ability to understand that their 

personally identifiable information would be provided to others as a lead for 

https://TheRetailRewards.com
https://AbodeDefense.com
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who did not consent to receiving calls from the campaigns, including consumers 

with telephone numbers registered with the National Do Not Call Registry. 

37. As another example, between January 2018 and May 2021, Yodel 

Technology Services, LLC (“Yodel”), a company that operates a Voice Over 

Internet Protocol service, among other various telemarketing services, transmitted 

millions of calls for its clients, almost all of which were robocalls, to consumers 

based on leads and purported consents that Defendants represented were obtained 

through their websites. This chart shows how many sales calls Yodel initiated 

based on consumer information that Yodel understood was obtained from five of 

Defendants’ websites during the relevant period: 

Defendants’ Consent 

Farm Website 

Number 
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including DMS, were used to initiate outbound telephone calls, including robocalls 

and calls made to telephone numbers on the National Do Not Call Registry. In 

numerous instances, Defendants’ lead generation clients explicitly required that the 

“consent” portion of Defendants’ websites contain language regarding “pre-

recorded calls.”.  Indeed, the block of text on the Patriot Refi Website and others 

operated by Defendants that is captured in Images 1 and 2 above specifically stated 

that a consumer may be contacted “by telephone, which may include artificial or 

pre-recorded calls . . . delivered via automated technology.” Defendants also have 

known that many, if not all, of their clients and their clients’ clients do not and/or 

did not have pre-existing business relationships with the consumers they called. 

Ongoing Nature of Defendants’ Unlawful Practices 

39. Based on the facts and violations of law alleged in this Complaint, 

Plaintiff has reason to believe that Defeti5k -1.641 Ta1 (s a)1-1.641 Ta
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the TSR, 16 C.F.R. § 310.2. 

54. In numerous instances, in connection with telemarketing, those sellers 

and/or telemarketers to whom Defendants have provided substantial assistance or 

support have initiated or caused the initiation of outbound telephone calls that 

delivered prerecorded messages to induce the sale of goods or services, in violation 

of 16 C.F.R. § 310.4(b)(1)(v). 

55. In numerous instances, in connection with telemarketing, those sellers 

and/or telemarketers to whom Defendants have provided substantial assistance or 

support have initiated or caused the initiation of outbound telephone calls to a 

person’s telephone number on the National Do Not Call Registry in violation of 16 

C.F.R. § 310.4(b)(1)(iii)(B). 

56. At all relevant times, Defendants knew or consciously avoided 

knowing that the sellers and/or telemarketers to whom they provided substantial 

assistance or support were making the unlawful calls described in Paragraphs 54-

55, which violated § 310.4(b)(1)(v) of the TSR. 

57. 
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